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Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™ or “SEC”)
alleges as follows:
SUMMARY

1. The SEC brings this action for vérious disclosure and a.ccounting violétions
| involving Dell Inc. (“Dell”) from 2001 to 2006. Dell’s disclosure violations, which relate
primarily to Dell’s receipt of large payments from Intel Corporation (“Intel’;), fraudulently
misrepresented the basis for Dell’s improving profitability. Dell’s separate fraudulent and
improper. ‘accounting during this time period wrongfully made it appear that Deli was consistently
meeting Wall Street earnings targets and reducing its operating expenses through the company’s
management and. operations. Dell’s Intel-related disclosure violations involved the conduct of
senior executives, including Michael Dell, Chairman and, at various times, Chief Executive
- Officer (“CEO”); Dell’s former CEO Kevin Rollins (“Rollins”); and Dell’s former Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”) James Schneider (“Schneider”). Dell separately committed the accounting
violations through the conduct of defendant Schneider and other senior former accounting

executives. Defendants Leslie Jackson (“Jackson™), Assistant Corporate Controller, and Nicholas



Dunning (“Dﬁnping”), Finance Director of Dell’s Eu:ope, Middle East, and Africa region |
(“EMEA”) aided and abetted Dell’s improper accounting.

2.. .From 2002 to 2006, Dell failed to disclose the significant benefits it received from
large payments from Intel and materially misrepresented the basis for its impro_.ving proﬁfability.
In Déll’s Forms 10-Q and-10-K for this period, and in ofher -public'statements, Michael Dell,
Rollins, Schneider énd others rebeatedly cited certain “cost reduction initiatives” and “declining
- component costs” as the bases for_ Dell’s increasing profit margins. In fact, Dell’s increasing
profitability was largely attributable to an unusual source of funds: payments from Intel, é |
microprbcessor manufacturer that was one of Dell’s largest vendors. During fhis period, Intel
effectively paid Dell__n_ot to use processors manufactured by Advanced Micro Devices,' Inc.
(“AMD?”), Intel’s arch-rival. Intel’s payments to Dell, which were the subject of various antitrust
investigations and clairﬁs, grew significantly. When measured as a percentage of Dell’s operating
income, these payments grew from about 10% in fiscal year 2003 (“FY03”) to 38% in FY06,
peaking at 76% in the first quarter of fiscal 2007 (“Q1FY07”). While almost all of the Intel funds
were incorporated into Dell’s component costs, Dell did not disclose the existence, much less the
magnitude, of the Intel exclusivity payments.

3. In May 2006 (Q2FY07), Dell announced that it intended to begin using AMD
microprocessors in certain of its products later that year. Intel responded by cutting its exclusivity
payments. In that same quarter Dell reported a 36% drop in its operating income. In dollar terms,
the reduction in Intel exclusivity payments was equivalent to 75% of the decline iﬁ Dell’s
operating income. Michael Dell, Rollins, and Schneider had been warned in the past .that Intel
would cut its ﬁmding if Dell added AMD as a vendor. Nevertheless, in the Q2FY 07 earnings call,

Dell told investors that the sharp drop in the company’s operating results was attributable to Dell



pﬁcing too aggressively in the face Qf sléwing demand and to component costs deéli_ning less than
expected. | N
4. In addition to Dell’s disclosure violatiéns, Dell’s most senior former accounting
personnel engaged in a wide-rangihg accouhting fraud by maintaining é‘series of “cookie jar’”
reserves that it used to cover shortfalls in operating results from FY02 to F Y65.
5. Defendants,. by engaging in the conduct alleged as to each below, violated the
following;:
(1) Dell violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Secixritie’s Aclt”) [15
| US.C. § 77q(a)] and Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the E);change
Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 10b-5,
12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-_113 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, 240.12b-20, 240.132-1, and -
240.13a-13], promulgated thereunder. Unl'es_s restrained and enjoined, Dell will in the
_future violate such provisions.
(1) MiChéel Dell violated Séction 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. |
§ 77q(2)(2) and 77q(a)(3)] and Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act”) [17 C.F ..R. § 240.13a-14] ahd ai‘ded. and abetted Dell’s violaﬁons of
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and
13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20,‘.240.133—1, 240.13a-13], promulgated thereunder,
pursuant to Section 20(6) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)]. Unless restrained and
enjoined, Michael Dell will in the future violate or aid and abet violations of such
provisions.
(111) Rollins violated Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §

77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3)] and Rule 13a-14 of the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14]

(O8]



and aided and abetted Dell’s violations of Sectxon 13(a) of the Exchange Act [1 5U.S.C.§§-
78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 [17 C F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1,

- 240.13a-1 3], promulgated thereunder, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act[15
U.S.C..§ _78t(e)]. Unless restrained and enjoined, Rollins will in the future violate or aid
and abet ;/iolations of such provisions.

(iv) Schneider violated Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act [15 US.C. §
77q(2)(2) and 77q(a)(3)], Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)]

-and Rules 13a-14, 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13a-14, 240.13b2-1 and ..

| 240.13b2-2], promulgated thereunder, and aided and abetted Dell’s violations of Sections

l3(a) 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 US.C. §§ 78m(a)
78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 [17 C F R. §§
240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240. 13a-13], promulgated thereunder, pursuant to Sectlon
20(e) of the Exchange Act[15 U.S. C. § 78t(e)]. Unless restramed and enjoined, Schneider

- will in the future violate or aid and abet violations of such pr()visions..

(v) Jackson violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)]
and Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-2], promulgated
thereunder, and aided and abetted Dell’s violations of Sectioné 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and
13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)]
and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and
240.13a-13], promulgated thereunder, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S. C. § 78t(e)]. Unless restrained and enjoined, Jackson will in the future violate or aid

and abet violations of such provisions:



(vi)Dwming_violated' Section 1 3(5)(5) of the Exchange Act[15U.S.C. §7'8m(b_)(5)]
and Rule 13b2-1 [17 C.F R §§ 240.13,b2—1],’promul_gated_thcreunder, and aideci énd
abetted Dell’s ;fiolations of Sections 13(5), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange
Act[15 U.S.C. §§78h1(a), 78>m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b—20; .13a—1,' and
13a-13 [1.7 C.F.R. §§240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13'a-1'3]', rpromulga.ted thereunder,
“pursuant to Section _iO(e) 6f the Exchange Act [15U.S.C. § 78t(e)]. Unless réstréinéd and

enjoined, Dunning will in the future violate or aid and abet violations of such provisions.

- JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this aé_tio_n pursuant to Sections 20(b) and 22(a) of |
'the- Secuﬁtieé Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and 77v(a)], and SecﬁOns 21(d),'21(e)7 and 27 of thel
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa]. | |
7. The Defendants, directly or indirectly, héve made use of the means and
- instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, or of th¢ facilities of a.national securities
exchange in connection with acts, practices and courses of business alleged in this Coﬁﬁlaint.
| 8. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 22 of the Securities Act [15
US.C.§ 77v] and Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa] because, among other
reasons, most of the conduct constituting the violations »alleged herein occurred within this
'District. -

DEFENDANTS

9. Dell Inc. (“Dell”) is a Fortune 100 company in the business of providing electronic
products, including mobility products, desktop PCs, peripherals, servers, networking equipment,
and storage. Dell also offers services, including software, infrastructure technology, consulting

and applications, and business process services. Dell was incorporated in Delaware in 1984 and is



base&' in Round Rock, Texas. Sihc’e July 2006, Dell’s common stock was régistered with the I_
Corﬁmission puréuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and is traded on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market. During the prior relevant period, Dell’s common stbck was registered with the
Commission under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and ;luoted on the Nasdaq Nati;)nal Market
System. Dell’s ﬁséal yéar 1s the 52 or 53 week period ending on the Friday cioéest to January 31.
Each quarter then runs for either 13 or 14 weeks, also ending on Fridays.

10. Michael S. Dell (“Michael Dell”), 45, resides in Austin, Texas. Michael Dell
founded Dell in 1984 and.serv.ed as CEO from 1984 until July 2004. In January 2007, he résumed'-
the role of CEQ, a position he holds today: Michael Dell has held the title of Chairman of the
Board and has served as a Director since he founded the company. Michael Dell owns in excess of
~ five percent of the outstanding common stock of Dell Inc;_ and has done so since the company went
public in 1‘988. | During the relevaﬁt fime period, Michael Dell reviewed, approved and signed

Dell’s annual reports on Forms 10-K filed with the Cofnmission on April 28, 2003, April 12,2004,
March 8, 2005 and March 15, 2006. Michael Dell signed the Sarbanes-Oxley cerfiﬁcations for the
April 28, 2003 and Apnl 12, 2004 Forms 10—K. During the rele.vant time period, while serving as
CEO, Michael Dell also réviewed and approved Dell’s qua.fterly reports on Forms 10-Q filed with
the Commission befween Sepfember 16, 2002 and June 9, 2004, and signed the SarBanes—Oxley
| certifications for those filings. Michael Dell participated in making public statements concerning
those and other periodic reports. During the period from July 2004 to June _2006 when he was not:
CEO, he reviewed at least certain of Dell’s Forms 10-Q, but did not sign tHemL

11. Kevin B. Rollins, 57, resides in Dover, Méssachusetts. Rollins joined Dell in Apnl
1996 as Senior Vice President for Corporate Strategy, was named Senior Vice President and

General Manager for the Americas in May 1996, and was named Co-Vice Chairman in 1998. In



200.1_, Rollir-ls’.title was chahged from Co-Vice Chairman to Co-President and Co-Chief Operatihg '
Officer. He was named CEOAof Dell in July 2004. He stepped down as CEO on January 31, 2007
and remained a consu]tant at Dell until May 4, 2007. During his time as CEQO, Rollins reviewed,
approved and 51gned Dell’s annual reports on Forms 10-K filed with the Commission on March 8,
2005 and March 15, 2006 and signed the Sarbanes- -Oxley certlﬁcatlons for those filings. During
“his time as CEO, Rollins also reviewed and approved Dell’s quarterly reports on F orms 10-Q filed
with the Co_mmiseion between September 7, 2004 and June 7, 2006, aﬁd signed the
Sarbanes-Oxley certifications for those filings. Rollins participated in making public stafefnents
conceminé those and other periodic reports. Rollins reviewed at least certain of Dell’s F orms |
10-Q during FY03, and FY04, but did not sign them. |
- 12. James M. Schneider, CPA, 57, resides in Austin, Texas. Schneider joined Dell in

September 1996 as Vice President of Finance and Chief Acco_untiﬁg Officer (“CAO”). While
keeping his position as CAO, he was named Senior Vice President in September 1998 and-CFO in
Marc}; 2000. In_Nermber 2002, Schneider left the CAO position, but remained CFO, a position
he held until January 1, 2007. Schneider left Dell on February 2, 2007. Schneider, a CPA licensed
in Wisconsin, also worked as an auditor at what was then Price Waterhouse from 1974 to 1993,
rising to the level of partner. Schneider gradpated from Carroll University with a bachelor’s
degree in Accounting.  During his tume as CAO and CFO, .Schneider reviewed, approved and-
signed Dell’s annual reports on F orﬁs 10-K filed with the Commission on May 1, 2002, April 28,
2003, April 12, 2004, March 8, 2005, ahd March 15, 2006, During his.time as CAO, Schneider
reviewed, approved and signed Dell’s Forms 10-Q filed with the Commission on June 15, 2001,

September 17, 2001, December 17, 2001, June 17, 2002 and September 16, 2002. After



" November 2002, when he was stili CFO, but no lohger .CAO, Schneider reviewéd and approved
* Dell’s Forms 10-Q and _sigfxéd the Sarbanes—Oxley certifications for those filings. |

__13. Leslie L. J ackson, 45, resides in Durango, Colorado. Jackson joined Dell in July
1999 as a Finaﬁcé Senior' Manager in Corporate Reporting. In April 2000, while maintaining the
same title, she moved to the Treasury Controller. Jackson was named Direét(;r éf Financial | |
Réporting n October 2001, was named Corporate Assistant Controller in June 2003, _ahd w.as
. named Director of Global Finance Systems in January 2005, a position that she retained until she.
left Dell in 2008. Prior to Dell, Jackson worked as an auditor at Arthur Young from July 1.987 to’
July 1990 and at Emét & Young from November 1990 to May 1991, rising to the le';/el of senior
accountant. J ackéon holds a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from‘ Texas Tech University andr a
Mas_ter’s.of Accountanqy from the University of Alabama. Jackson was é CPA licensed in Téxas,'
but did not renew her licenS;: in December 2008. ‘During her time as Corporate Assistant
Controller, Jackson reviewed and appféved, Dell’s annual réports on Forms 10-K and quarterly
reports on Forms 10-Q filed with the Cpmmission. From November 2003 to February 2005,
Jackson served asa memBer of Dell’s Disclosure Review Committee (“DRC”).

14.  Nicholas A. R. Dunning, 47, resides in Reading, England. Dunning joined Dell mn -
1'997‘as Director of Finance Operations for European Operations, and was named Vice President
of Finance for the EMEA Home & Small Business unit (“HSB”) in 1998. While in this position,
~ he also became one of two Vice Presidents of Finance for EMEA in 2001, a position he held until
early 2004.. Durining then became vice president of Marketing in HSB before being named Vice
Preéident and General Manager for the business unit in August 2004. He held this positio‘n. until he

left Dell on February 9, 2007. Dunning was a Chartered Accountant with Arthur Andersen & Co.

from 1985 to 1989.



RELEVANT ENTITIES

15.  Intel Corporation is a Delaware corporation, héadquartere_d in Santa Clara,
Califomia, whiCh designs, develéps, and manufactures semiconductor chips. Intel’s common
stock is registered with th.e.SEC pursuant to Section 12(b) of the -Ekchang‘e Act ana is tradéd on the
NASDAQ Global Select Market. Intel is current on its SEC filings. |

16. Advanced Micro Devices, Inc. (“AMD?”) is a Delaware corporation,
headquartered in Sunnyvale, California, which designs, develops, and manufactures
semiconductor chips. AMD’s stock is registered with the SEC pursuant to Section 12(b) of the
- Exchange Act and 1s traded on the New York Stock_Exéhange. AMD is current on its SEC filings.

17.° .PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PWC”) is a national public accounting firm
with ité headquarters in New York, Néw York. PWC audited Dell’s financial statements
throughout the relevant period.

DELL’S FISCAL YEAR

18.  Dell’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53 week period ending on the Friday closest to

January 31. Each quarter then runs for either 13 or 14 weeks, also ending on Fridays.

THE DISCLOSURE VIOLATIONS: INTEL’S PAYMENTS TO DELL

A. Background of Intel’s Exclusivity Payments to Dell

19.  Dell began its business in 1984 as an assembler of personal computers (“PCs”) that
were “clones” .of the original.IBM personal computer. IBM PCs used Intel-designed central |
procéssing units—(“CPUs”)- and Microsoft operating systems, so Dell did the same. Early in .its
corporate history, Dell purchased CPUs from Intel, AMD, and others. Beginning in the 19905,

Dell chose to buy its CPUs éxclusiyely from Intel.



20.  Intel was not always the only choice. AMD produced CPUs for IBM and its cfones
béginning in 1982 under a license from Intel. In 1986, Intel “canceled” thisllicens.e,,leading to
extensive litigation with AMD. In 1994, AMD finally prevéiled in its first legal conflict with Intel.

21. | Beginning in .1991, AMD be_:gaﬁ to make advances in its own CPU design and
manufagture, thereby increasing competitive pressure on Intel. In the 1990s, in at least partial
response to the rise of AMD, Intel begém several programs to promote its CPUs as the industfy

- standard for personal computers. The best known of these programs was the “Intel Inside”
marketing campaign. As part of the “Intel Inside” and other joint marketing efforts, Intel baid its
vendors, including Dell, certain marketing rebates pursuant to written contracts. (As is the case
with ali refereﬂces to Intel payments in this Complaint, Intel did notv“pay” Dell; rather, Intel woﬁld
issue Dell credit memos reducingr the overall amount that Dell owed Intel.) _

22, Generally, the moneys associated with these contractual marketing programs were
called “market development funds” (“MDF”). As appropriate under the accounting rules, when
Dell received MDF payments or credits from Intel, it treated them as reductions in its operating:
expenses, because the payments offset operating expenses that Dell had incurrqd in marketing
Intel’s products.

23.  Beginning at least as early as 2001, Intel began to provide additional “rebates” to
Dell and other personal computer makers that were not related to the contractual marketing
program and that were different in character from ordinary coﬁrse price discounts. No one
disclosed these I;ayments to the market. In recent years, these payments have been the focus of at |
least five different government antitrust investigations, as well as a major private antitrust suit

launched by AMD. The primary claim in these investigations has been that Intel was paying its
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customers to limit their purchases of AMD products. In Dell’s case, thé claim was that Intel was
paying Dell to boycott AMD entirely.
o 24. Intel publicly denied the charges. Dell said nothing on the-subj ect. Dell
acknowledged in itsi public filings that Intel was its sole éource of éPUS, _but. it only disclosed
inqumation regarding compoﬁenfpric¢s .-with: respect to “vendors” in »general..
25.  These disclosures omitted material facts relating to Intel’s payments or credits to
Dell, which -- s_epa;raté from the MDF progréms ---soared from $61 million in Q1FY03 »(10% of
operating income) to over $720 million in Q1FYO07 (76% of operafing incorﬁe), an increasé of
| about 1000% in four years. The increase in Intel payments to Dell coincided almost exactly with
_ .AMD’s introduptio_n of its Opteroh' CPU that was, in the view of many, technologically sup¢1ior to . -
Intel’s competing CPU.
| - B. The Development of Intel’s Exclusivity Payments fo-Dell

- 26. Up until late 2001, Intel provided Dell rebates - separate from the MDF programs

- -- on an undefined ad hoc basis. These rebates reduced Dell’s prices below the “Tier 17 price
discounts that Intel provided Dell and other large computer assemblers in the ordinary course of
business. At the end of 2001, Intel began a program called ;‘MOAP” (short for “Mother of All
Programs”), pursuant to which it agreed to give Dell a 6% rebate going forward on all of Dell’s

- CPU purchases. The calpulation of the percentage réba'te evolved over time and was ultimately
based on a p_ércentage of Dell’s entire net spend with Intel. This MOAP approach, which Intel |
could havé ceased or amended at any time, relieved Deﬂ of the need to justify each rebate that it’
sought.

27. In January 2003, Intel changed the name of the rebate program from MOAP to

MCP, which was short for “Meet Competition Program.” “Meeting competition” is a concept

under the Robinson-Patman Act of 1936, an antitrust statute that prohibits price discrimination.
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The Robinsoh-:_I.’atman Aét ge_:nerally prohibits a vendor from selling the same product at different’
prices (or on génerally different terms) to different customers. The Robins_on—Patman Act | |
récogx_ﬁzeé-a defense to this general prohibition, however, that allows companies to charge
different prices to different customers, if one of the customers has a competing vendor offering a
better price. | | |

28. Other than the name of the prégrmn, it is not clear how the MCP credits felated to
the legal parameters of the'Robin_son-Patrrian Act. Nevertheless, Intel asked Dell to prepére “Meet
Competition Requests” to comply with a framework that Irﬁel provided. As requested, De.ll’s
procurement team regularly produced elaborate schedules that dstensibly allocated the
. pércentage—ﬁased rebate it ex-pécted- td receive from Intei to speciﬂg Intel prodﬁcts that Dell
pprportedly intended to purchase. Infel “replied’; tb the Dell schedules by indicating .how much it
was willing to provide in rebates for each specific Intel product. Thesé schedules created the
appéaranc;e that Intel and Dell were comparing prices for each Intel product that Dell intended .to
purchase, and that Intel was réspbnd_ing with appropriaté rebates to be applied against those
products. |

29.  In fact, the MCP payments did not relate to any systemaiic assessment of the
pricing of any-particular processor; nor did they relate to the épeciﬁc purchase of any supi)osedly
required processor. The Dell executive overseeing the creation of the.“Meet Competition
Requests” admitted that thes¢ requests were, though required by Intel, a mea.rﬁngless exercise to
Dell: he simply_instructed the Dell team preparing the requests to put together enougﬁ data to
justify a “big[ger] number” than Dell was expecting to negotiate for that quarter’s MCP discount.

30. Rather than matching the particulars of any specific competitive situation, the MCP

payments started with a baseline percentage of the aggregate dollar value of Dell’s purchases from
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Intel. To ﬁat baseline, the.parties occasionally added large lump-sum amounts based on
negotiations betweeh the top .rr.lanagement of the two compénies that from time-to-time involved
Michael Dell and Kevin Rollins. |

31. _' Although the use of a bercentage for the baseline may suggest some sort of
contractual commitment, that impression would be incorrect. At any given time, the continuity of
MCP payments. was at the dis'cr'etion of Intel, and Intel could cut the pdymenté off at ény time :
.without any recourse by Dell. ' |

32.  The baseline percentage changed significantly during the relevant period, largely in
response to Dell’s assertions that it needed better pricesi,in order to continue offening Intel-based -
| products exclusively. Initially, at the outset of Dell’s FYO3, fhe fixed percen’taée waié 6%. BUt by.
Dell;s FY07, it was over 14%. |

33.  The lump-sum:amounts did not fit any fixed pattern. Insfead, taken together, the
overall growth of the MCP payments largely reflected Dell’s desire to meet its quarterly forecasts
and Intel’s desire to keep Dell from buying AMD products. |

34.  From QIFYO03 through QlF’_YO7, Intel’s MCP rebates to Dell totaled $4.3 billion
($3.4 billion in percentage-based rebates and $881 million in lump sum payments). The following

table breaks these figures down:



'MCP TABLE

| Percentage | Percentage- Lump Total Dell's Increase / MCP %

Applied for Based Sum MCP | Reported | (Decrease) “of
Rebate Rebate Payment | Operating in Operating
’ Income Operating |  Income
: L Income B

. Q1FY03 6% $61m - - $61m $590m - 10%
Q2FY03 6% -$57m "~ $3m- $60m $677m. - 15%. 9%

Q3FY03 6% $59m $12m | $7Ilm $758m 12% 9%
Q4FYO03 6.3% $77m $7m $84m $819m 8% 10%
QIFY04 63% $91m $8m $99m $811m (1%) 12%
Q2FY04 63% $106m $6m $112m $840m 4% 13%
Q3FY04 6.3% $105m $40m $145m | $912m 9% 16%
Q4FY04 7% - $118m $82m $200m $981m 8% 20%
QIFY0S | 8.7% ~ $137m $70m $207m $966m (2%) 21%
Q2FY05 | 12% + var. $210m - $210m | $1,006m 4% 21%
-Q3FYO05 12%+ var. $250m - $250m | $1,095m 9% 23%
Q4FY05 | 12%t+ var. $293m $75m | $368m | $1,187m 8% 31%
Q1FY06 12%+ var. $307m $81im $388m | $1,174m (1%) ~33%
Q2FY06 | 12%+ var. $313m $119m [ $432m | $1,173m - 37%
Q3FY06' | 12%t+ var. $339m - | $339m $754m (36%) 45%
Q4FY06 14%+ var. $423m - $60m . | $483m | $1,246m 65% 39%
QIFY07 14%+ var.- $405m $318m | $723m $949m (24%) . T6%

- During this pén’od, Dell’s business grew substantially. Dell’s total revenue grew from $35

billion to over $57 billion by the end of FY07. Dell’s quarterly purchases from Intel rose from

$1.4 billion in Q1FY03 (on 6.2 million units) to $2.6 billion in Q1FY07 (on 10.5 million units).

As a percentage of Dell’s total costs of goods sold, net Intel spend increased from 17% to 22%

over the period.

C.

35.

The Issue of Exclusivity in Dell’s Negotiations with Intel

In 1999, AMD introduced the first version of its Athlon processor for persodal

computers. This processor was almost universally recognized as being superior to Intel’s then

' InQ3FY06, Dell recorded a non-recurring, special charge of $442M related warranty costs, workforce

realignment, product reatizations, excess facilities, and a write-off of goodwill. The Q3FY06 lump sum payments

also do not include so-called “Expedites” and other payments that Dell received from Intel.
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current top model for PCs, the Pentium IIL In 2003, AMD'iintrod'uceid the Opteron 64-bit
processdr for nefwork sefvérs and Workstatibns. ‘This proceésor was almost universally re’cﬁoénizéd
as being superior to Intel’s then top model for s_efvers, the Xeon.

36. In 2001, Dell considered using these new AMD CPUs in specific value platforms.
| During these discussions, in February 2002, one Dell employee reported on a ‘meeting attended by
the Deil Senior Vice Pfesident responsible for the Intel relationship (“the SVP”); Michaél Dell and |
Rollins: “We also had an interesting exchange on MOAP. Michael/Rollins asked what the impact
would be if we did an AMD deal now. [A Dell employee] (predictably) said ‘we might see MOAP
go down for a couple of quarters, but then Intel would raise it even higher than it is now in order to
" win the business back.” [the SVP_] and I responded by saying we would probably lose 50% of
MOAP and 100% of the MDF as long [as] we were selling AMD, and it would probably never
come back up, especially in ‘04+ when the géme starts to end . . . .” (ellipses in original). In that
quarter, Dell received $61 million in MOAP paymenté, and $72 million in MDE pa'ymen_té from
Intel, while its reported operating income was $590 million. Michael Dell idé'ntiﬁed the SVP as |
the Dell employee with the most reliable information about Intel’s intentions. | |

37. Dell subsequently sought highér payments from Intel for not using AMD CPUs. In
- June 2002, in response to an action item from a meeting with Michael Dell and Rollins, Dell’s
procurement team developed a “laundry list of things” that the company would require Intel to do
for Dell to “remain monogamous.” A subsequ_ent version of the list was provided to Michael Dell
and Rollins and included an item seeking an increase in MOAP funding. In Juiy 2002, Rollins
reported to Michael Dell that Intel “seem(s] to want to do whatever it takes to pefsuade us to not go

with [AMD].”
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| 38. In Q3FY04 (ended 1'0/3-1/03), D_ell.consi,dered a potential deal involving Microsoft, - |
AMD, ar'ld IBM (“MAID”). This deal contemplated that Dell would add Opteron and other AMD
CPUs to its product lines and take an ownership interest in AMD. This proposal envisioned Dell
shifting 25%. df its 'gotal CPU purchases to AMD. |

39.  AsDell was negotiating the MAID deal, however, Intel’s CEd told Michael Dell
that Intel was prepared to increase its MCP payments to Dell significantly. The SVP and his Intel
counterpart then negotiated a “Tactical and Strategic Fund” through which Intel agreed to péy Dell
$258 million over four quarters from Q4FY04 to Q3FY05. On September 30, 2003, Intel’s CEO
and Michael Dell shook hands on a new MCP deal. Two days later, Michael Dell said to Rollins,
Schneider, the SVP, and others: ;‘We neéd to close down the [MAID] discussions and move on.”

40.  In or about 2004, the SVP told Michael Dell and Rollins that if Dell started using
AMD CPUs, Intel would likely not only s;top or reduce tﬁe MOAP and MDF funds it had been
paying Dell, but might re-direct those payments to Dell’s competitors. Dell decided not to
purchase AMD CPUs at that time. '

41. Over the following ten quarters, Intel estabiished ﬁ_ve additional MCP programs
through which it continued to pay Dell, in the form of higher percentage—based rebates ahd/or lamp
sum payments, either not to use AMD CPUs or to delay the announcement of its intention to use
- AMD CPUs. The MCP payrhents that Intel provided Dell were the subject of regular negotiations
between the companies, with Dell routinely seeking, and Intel commonly agreeing to provide,
largér amounts -t_o maintain Dell’s excl-usive use of Intel CPUs.

D. The Importance of Intel’s Exclusivity Payments to Dell

42. Dell would often seek additional rebates from Intel in order to close a gap between
its forecasted results and its earnings targets. Dell was quite open with Intel about the reasons it

- was requesting additional money.
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43. In Q3FY04, the quarter in whiCh‘ Intel created the“Técﬁcal’ and Strategic F;xnd”
that was intended to run from Q4FYO4' to Q3FY05, Dell aéked Intel to advance $40 million from
that fund. CGontemporaneous Intel notes prepared in September 2003 by Intel’s lead negotiator
with bell stated that Dell soﬁghf the $40 million l'ump.sum advéncé fo “5ave-their quarter” and
ref_ereﬁced Dell’s “current Qtr jam.” The advance, which comprised 4.4% of lDell’s operating
incoﬁle in that period, contribﬁtéd one penny td Dell’s EPS. Dell met analysts’ consehsus eétimate '
of 26 cents.

44. Similarly, in Q4FY04, Dell sought a $25 million lump sum payment from the
Tactiéal and S;rategic Fund after forecasting that its results would fall short of analysts’ consensus.
In 'a January 30, 2004 string of emails to the'SVP? Schneider_ wrote “I think §ve will-ba_re& mak’e the
quarter becauée of the Intel money.” Dell would ha\}é misse_,ci analys;cs’ consensué in this quarter

~without the additional Intel funds: Rollins howéver, stated to investors that it was Dc;l.l’s business
model that allowed the company to coritinue its streak of meeting or exceedinngall Street
earnings targets. Rollins stated during the company_’s Q4FY04 earnings- call that Dell’s record of
“twelve consecutive quarters of meeting or exceeding guidance to investors, is driven by éur
tightly contr(_)lled supply chain, highly efficient infrastructure and direct relationships with
customers.” These statements by Rollins were contained in a script that was circulated in advance
of the earnings call to Michael Dell, Schheider, and other Dell personnel.

45.l In early March 2004 (QIF Y05), Dell’s then-Chief Accounting Officer (“CAO”)
informed Michael Dell, Rollins, and Schneider thatrDéll was running behind on its forecasts; but
that Dell should be able to meet the consensus EPS number of 28 cénts “as long as we get $75
million from In.tel.” On March 31, 2004,.Séhneider asked the SVP about the status of his MCP

negotiations in an email that refers to the SVP as “Mr. ‘the quarter is on your shoulders.’”

17



46.. - Michéel Dell and Rollins were involved in the nego'tiéﬁons with Intel to clése the
gap to consensus EPS. Ulﬁmately, Intel provided Dell a $70 million lump sum payment that
quarter (equivalent to approximately 2 cents per sharé). That qua;ter, Dell met analysts’ EPS
consenéus of 28 cents. On April 3, 2004, Rollins sent Michael Dell an email grguing that Deil
should diversify ifs buéinéss toward higher margin server and other products. .Hé noted that Dell’is
;éliance on Intel payrﬁents was a strategic “préblém,” stating that “for 3 qtrs now, Intel money has
made the qtr; A bad .wéy to run the railroad.’.’ Rollins subsequently forwarded the email to
‘Schneider.

47. In December 2004 (Q4FYO05), Schneider informed Rollins and the SVP that Dell
néedé(i additional money from Intel to meet its targets. The $75 million that Intel agreed to
prqvide that quarter (approximately 2 cents per share) allowed Dell to beat analysts’ EPS.
consensus of 36 cenfs by 1 cent. In this period as well, Dell would have missed analysts’
consensus without thé additional Intel funds. Rollins, howevér, stated to iﬁvestor_s that it was
Dell’s execution that allbwed the company to continue its streak of meeting or eXoeeding Wall
| Street earnings targets. Rollins stated during the company’s Q4FY05 earnings call, “We have now
met or beat our guidance to investors for 16 consecutive quarters, demonstrating a consistency of
execution that is unmatchedr in our industry.” These statements by Rblllins were containe;d n a
script that was circulated in advance of the earnings call to Michael Dell, Schneide;, and other Dell
_personnel. |

48.  In June 2005 (Q2FY06), after reqognizing that Dell would fall short of its foreéasts
without additional Intel funds, Rollins wrote to the SVP and another Dell executive, instructing
them to seek further MCP payments from Intel. After being told that Dell had already negotiated |

an additional $30 million MCP from Intel for Q2FY 06 and that the prospects for additional MCP
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ﬁmds’ Weré poor, ROlliﬂs replied on June 22,2005, “[t]hen ptepar_e for $25 stock pricé.;’ The
closing price of Dell’s stock that day was $40.45. -

49, - On June 29, 2005, Rbllins e-mailed Schneider_ ar_ld othéré that he had asked Intel’s
CEO “for [an additional] $10-20m in fuly, pull-in, MDF, whatever he wanted to cali it, But we
needed the favor. His comment in 'su-m'ma.ry wés, you dén’t ésk for favors ve;'y often, so we will
see if we can help. My take away was that he would get us the assistance.” Ultimately, Iﬁtel
provided .Dell a $119 million lump sum payment that quarter (equivalent to approximately 4 cents
per share), allowiﬁg the company to meet analysts’ EP_S consensus of 38 cents.‘ |

50.  'In the 20 quarters during this period, from Q1FY02 through Q4FY06, Dell met
analysts’ EPS consensus in 15 quarters, exceeded consensus by 1 cent in 4 quarters, and éxceeded
consensus by 2 cents in1 quartér. Dell \.Jvould have missed the EPS consensus in every quarter had
it not received MCP péyrnen;cs from Intel.

E. Dell Knew that I.nte'l Was Paying 'For‘ Exclusivity '

| .51. . Michael Dell, Rollins, and Schneider had been advised that Intel would likely

reduce MOAP/MC_P payments by about 50% if Delll began using any AMD CPUs. dn numerous
occasioﬁs dun'ng the relevani period, Dell modeled the financial impacts ‘of using AMD CPUS in
addition to Intel’s. In certain of these models, at least lone of which was presented to Michael Deil,
Rollins, and Schneider, Dell assumed that it would lose about 50% of the MCP payments if it
added any AMD products. This wbuld have matched the amount of MOAP/MCP payments that
the SVP then believed Intel to be providing Dell’s largest competitor. |

52.. Additionally, the SVP advised Schneider in .March 2004 that he believed Intel

“would move it close to no MCP for the first quarter” after Dell added AMD and would “use some
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legal excﬁs_é that in‘gel has to eyaluate the whole MCP program based on the Dell decision that
eliminates meet comp” because Dell would be using Intel’s competition.

53, Michael Dell admitted to AMD’s CEO that, although Dell wanted to use AMD
CPUs in its products, it had to terminate negotiations with AMD in the féll 012003 because Dell
feared that it could not bﬁdge the loss of the MCP money 1f it were to end its fI:‘chusive relationship
. with Intei.

54. | On November 24, 2004 (Q4FY05), Rollins expressed his concern to Schneider that
Dell Would take “a big hit from Intel pqlling our funding” after Dell added AMD. Rolliné stated,

| “The thinking being that at some point we will add AMD and Intel [will] cut back our funding.”

55. Dﬁring negotiations in Q4FYQS in which Intel initially resisted. p_roviding.MCP_
funds to Dell in response to AMD’s Opteron CPU, Rollins wrote in an email to Michael Dell,
Schneider, and other Dell executives that Intel’s “inﬁansigence oh MCP is a problem. We are
going to have to get off their drug and leave them within 18 months if this is their position on
Opteron.” 7

56. After Intel agreed later in Q4FYO05 to create the $275 million Opteron Fund,
Rollins wrote in an email to Michael Dell and other Dell execﬁtivcs that “With the deal we just cut
with Intel, don’t think we can do anything for several qgtrs, but assume we will be back at AMD énd
Intel in about 6-9 months.” An intemél Intel email, from the Intel employee mésﬁ responsible for
the Dell relationship, described Dell’s agreement to continue using Intel CPUS exclusively as the
| quid pro' quo féf the $275 million fund.
F.  Dell’s Eventual Decision to Use AMD Products

57.  The Opteron Fund payments continued through the end of Dell’s Q2FY06. Shortly

thereafter, Dell resumed negotiations with AMD about purchasing AMD processors.
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58. On January 31, 2006 (Q4FY06), Rollins sent an eméil to members of Dell’s senior
management, including Michael Dell, raising concerns about po.ssible corisequences if AMD were
to leak the “deal” fhey were negotiating “Before we have products to ship.” He observed that, “-[i]t
will draniatically hurt us with Intel and in the market for our products if they do. . We would be
forced. to deny it.” o |

59.  Upon coheludiﬁg its ﬁegoﬁations with AMD, Dell planned te announce on May 4,
2006 that it would begin.using “a bread range of AMD-based'systems.” intel had previously
agreed to provide Dell a $198 million lump sum payment in Q1FY07 in addition to the
perceﬁtage-baéed‘ payments. To forestall the announcerhent of Dell’e move to AMD, Intel agreed
to pay Dell.an additional $120 million hﬁnp—sum in Q1FY07 (which Intel’s CEO believed would
‘be enough to cover Dell’s eernings shortfall for the quarter), and an additional $100 million
- -luinp—sum each quarter for the following two querters. Intel’s CEO believed that these perents
ensured that Dell would continue to use Intel_CPUs exclusively until September or October 2006,
‘when Intel hoped to introduce a new S@ﬁ CPU that would alleviate the competitive pressure of
AMD’s Opteron product, and that Dell would not announce any change to the exclusive
relationship before then. Moreover, Intel’s CEO believed that any Dell product launch featuring
AMD processors later in 2006 would be limited to multiprocessor servers. Dell agreed to cancel
its planned May 4, 2006 announcement 'oflAMD-based products.

60.  Even with the $120 million payment that Dell received two days before the end of
Q 1FY07, Dell’s earnings fell short of consensus. This was the first quarter in five years that DeH
had missed consensus EPS estimates. In Q1FY07, Dell reported EPS of 33 cents, while consensus

was 38 cents. Intel’s total MCP payments reduced Dell’s cost of 'goods sold and had the effect of
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| contributing :24 of Dell’s 33 cents pér share in this period, witﬁ the: lﬁmp—sum payments alone
,connibﬁting over 10 ceﬁts. |
61.. Dell updated its guidance f;r QI1FY07 after the market..closed_ on May 8, -2006._. '. A
From May 8, 2006 to May 12,2006, Deil’s stock price fell by over 9%, from $26.43 to $24.02. On
May 12, 2006, Schneider wrote to Michaél_ Dell, Rollins', and the SVP that Dell was “getting |
- slammed with missing our numbers and Vnot announcing anything with AMD and our cﬁr,rent
plan 6f record for Q2 is to beg [Intel] fqr more money to make our targets.” On May 18, 2006, Dell
announced that it would add AMD to its product lines by the eﬁd of the year. In response, Ihtel cut
~ 1ts MCP payments to Dell by over a quarter of a billion dollars. This dramatic cut in the MCP:
payrnenté did not ‘_reﬂect any ébntemporaneous meaningful purchas_e of AMD processors .or :
substitution of AMD processors for those of Intel. Rather, Intel’s reduction in MCP payments
-reﬂecte_d Intel’s response to Dell’s announcement of an intention to use AMD products in the -
future.
| 62.  From Q1FYO07 to Q2FY07, Intel’s MCP payments fell by $263 million. Prior to
this point, there had been only one quarter in-the history of the MCP program during which the
rebates had not increased -- the quarter after AMD filed its private antitrust lawsuit. In Q1F YO?,
Dell’s reported operating income was $949 million. In Q2FY07, Dell’s operating income was
$605 million. In dollar terms, the reducﬁon in Iﬁtel exclusivity payments was equivalent to 75% of .
the decliﬁe in Dell’s operating income. |
63. Dell failed to disclose the imp.act of the decline in MCP on Dell’s operating income.
Instead, during the Q2FY07 earnings call about its operating results, Schneider .told analysts and
investors that the decline in operating income that quarter was attributable to Dell pricing too

‘aggressively in the face of slowing demand and to component costs declining “less than we
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_an_ticipated.”' These statements were contained in a,lscxipt that was circulated iﬁ advance of the -
earnings call to Michael DeH, R‘bllims, and othér Dell personnel.

64.  The second question asked on the Q2FY07 earnings call was whether “a’
precipitous or sharp decrease in Intel co-marketing dollars” i_mpactea Dell’s gross margin that
quarter. Rollins replied, “[w]e W&ul-d.prbbably not communicate anything on that. It is proprietary. -
We do believe that ;:omponent prices did not come down as we had anticipated, but vs-/e wouldn’t
comment on any of our agreements with suppliers.”

G. The Exclusivity Payments Were at Risk and
Disguised the True Performance of Dell’s Business

65. The. crash in the MCP payments after Dell.’s' announcement of its intent to use
AMD processors, and the concurrent ;:c;ntraction in Dell’s reported operating.income, was
testa:tﬁent to the -importance of the MCP payments to Dell’s operating results. As the MCP_Table
| in pé_'ragraph 34 above shows, the MCP payments were initially only.9-10% of Dell’s operating
income. But by the last quarter before the AMD announcement, these payments constituted 76%-
of Dell’s operating income. Dell’s apparent success was hostage to Intel’s willingness to continue
p:;ying Dell hundreds of millions of dollars.

66. Moreover, Michael Dell, Rollins, and Schneidér also understood that the Intet MCP
payments weré at ﬂsk because of the near‘ continuous scrutiny directed at Intel by various
competition authorities around the world and, to the degree that MCP payments were deemed
anticompetitive, such payments could abfuptly end. By 2003, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission
had begun investigating possible antitrust violations by Intel. In April 2004, press reports
indicated that the Japan Fair Trade Commission (JFTC) had raided Intel’s Japanese office as part
of its antitrust investigation. In March 2005, the JFTC announced that it had found that Intel had

indeed violated Japan’s Antimonopoly Act by paying OEMs “rebates and/or certain funds” on the
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condition that the OEMs either not. use C‘.()l.n-petit.ors". CPUS or sigﬁiﬁcantly Iiiﬁit ‘their. use. In May
2004, the EUropean Commission’s competition authorities sought inférmation from Dell and other
OEMs regafding payments they had received from Intel, anci’thén raided'.Dell’s and other OEMs’
Européan offices in June 20.05 as part of this investigation. Finally, AMD itself filed a private
antitrust l.a'ws'uit against Intel in June 2005, alleging that Intel violated the anti‘trust laws by making
payments to Dell and other OEMs éontiﬁgent on thevir'not using, or limiting their use of, AMD
CPUs in their products. Neither Dell nor any other Intel customer was charged with aﬁy antitrust
violation in any of those proceedings.

67. Dell understood that Intel’s antifrust problems affected Intel’s ability to pay. Dell
increasing amounts of MCP payments. In QIFY06, Intel told the SVP that it was having
difficulties obtaining authorization to increase MCP payments because the European
- Commission’s competition authorities were at Intel’é offices at that tixﬁe. Similarly, after learning
of the AMD suit in Q2FYO6, the SVP emailed a colleague, “absolute certainty that MCP won’t be
increased.” The following quarter (Q3FY06) was the only period from QIF YOé through Q1FY07
that Intel’s MCP payments to Dell declined. ‘This was also the first quarter since Intel began
making MCP payments in 2002 that Dell missed analysts’ initial forecast for consensus EPS.

68. ‘In addition, there was concern at Dell about what further actions Intel might take to
punish Dell if Dell began using AMD CPUs. In addition to reducing the MCP payments by 50%,
the SVP informed Schneider in 2004 that Intel would likely not make any MCP or MDF payments
to Dell in the quarter that Dell announced that it would begin selling AMD CPUs. Also in 2004,>
the SVP advised Michael Dell and Rollins thgt Intel might redirect the lost MCP payments to

Dell’s competitors if Dell added AMD.
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H | Dell’s Misleadingv Statements and Qmissibns in ifs Forms lO;K and 10-Q

69.  Despite the material'impact that the Intel MCP payments had on Déll’s operating
results, Dell did not disclose ariy infonnation relating to the paymenté in any of its annual or
-quarterly reports filed with the Commission for, fhe periodé QI1FY03 through QIFY07. -

70. Frbm FY03 through FYO05, investors did not have an actual undefstanding that Deli‘
received exclusivity payments from Intel. In FY06, certain analysts began speculating that Dell
received benefits from Intel for using their CPUs exclusi_vely,- thoﬁgh they could ﬁot estimate the
value of these benefits. In early 2006 (FY07), a widely-followed analyst covering Dell estimated
that Intel paid Dell $300 million annually in “mérketing” funds in exchange for Dell’s explusive
use of its CPUs. This was.an accurate estimate of the MDF payments that Intel provided Dell in
Dell’s prior fiscal year. But this estimate did not come close to reflecting fhe much larger MCP
payments.

71.  As shown above iﬁ the MCP Table at paragraph 34, Intel’s payrﬁents constituted
large and prOgressively greater proporﬁoné of Dell’s earnings. In addition to their effect én Dell’s
op¢rati’ng income, these payments affected Dell’s gross margin percentage, which is more
generally known as profit margin. In eafnings calls and in its Forms 10-K and 10-Q, Dell regularly
attributed ongoing improvemenfs in its gross margin to two factors: “cost.reduction initiatives”
and “declining component costs.” The “cost reduction initiatives” Dell identified involved
“manufacturing costs, warranty costs, structural or design costs, and overhead or operating
expénseé” that were unrelated to the MéP payments. Citing “declining component costs” in its
filings and eémings calls was materially misleading. Dell failed to disclose that the gross margin
- improvements were due to the MCP payments, not ordinary course price reductions that were the
consequence of regular decreases in the prices of technology components and/or routine

fluctuations in prices based on changes in supply and demand. Dell senior management touted its
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ability to 1e§erége declim'ng compohent costs to a greater degree than its competito;s because it -
maintained little inventory.
72. In FY06 and Q1FY07, Dell reported decreases in its grosé margin péfcentég_e: a
0.5% decrease in FY06 from the prior year (18.3% to 17.8%) and a 1.2% decrease in QIFY07
' from the same period in the prior year (18;6% to 17.4%). In both periods, Dell’s periodic reports
refér to component cost reductions as offsetting other events that reduced Dell’s margins. The
disclos_ufes during the relevant period were misleading because they masked an importanf fact: not
only was Dell’s reported gross margin percentage substantially and increasingly higher than what
the company generated without the MCP payments, but Dell was generally becoming less
profitable without the MCP payments, not more. |
73. Many of Dell’s materially misleading statements and omissions were in the
Management Discuss.ion and Analysis of Financial Condition and .Results of Operétions |
(“MD&A”) section Qf Dell’s Forms 10-Ks and Forms 10-Qs filed with the Commission during the
relevant period. This is an important section of Dell’s financial reports to Dell’s investors. The |
purpose of the MD&A ié to provide investors an opportunity to look at the comf)any through the
eyes of management. | |
74. | Dell’s materially misleading MD&A disclosures in its quarterly and gmnual r¢ports,
“including the omission of material information concerning the Intel péyments, defeated the
purpose of the MD&A. They did not fully disclose Dell’s results of operations and the basis for its
sucéesé. Dell’s iluarterly ﬁnanciai reportslalso failed to disclose information to enable investors to
assess material changes in financial condition and fesults of operations.
75. As aresult, Dell’s Forms 10-K and 10-Q and the MD&A sections of those reports,

as well as statements made therein, were materially false and misleading during the relevant period.
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The MD&A sections of Dell’s Forms 10-K and 10-Q for the relevant period did not comply wifh
Itém 303 of Regulétion S-K (17 C.F R '§‘ 229\.303], including; but not limited to Items 303(a) and |
303(b), as required by Section 13(a) of the E)gchange Act.

76.  For examplé, because the magnitude of the MCP payments compﬁsed .a material
proportion of, and were otherwise material ‘to, Dell’s annual operating incom;:, gross mafgiri, and -
other financial me.t’ricsr that Deli reported in the MD&A of 'its Forms 10-K, disélosure.of théir
: exist_ence and magnitude was necessary to an understan_diﬁg of Dell’s operating results from FY03
through FY06. By failing to disclose the existe;nce and magnitude of these payments, Dell’s
MD&A failed to comply with Regulation S-K Ifem 303(a) in each Form 10-K for this pen‘éd.

77. | Because the. MCP payments éo_mpn'sed a rﬁater_ial p;opc)rtion Qf, and were -
otherwise me_lterial to, Dell’s quarterly Operatinglincor'ne, gross margin and other financial metrics
that Dell reported in the MD&A of its Forms 10-Q, disclosure of their existence and magnitude
was necessary to an understanding of Dell’s quarterly operating results from QiFY(B through
Q1FY07. By failing to make any disclosures relating to these payments, Dell’s MD&A failed to
comply with Regulation S-K Item 303(b)(2).

78.  Dell did not disclose in its annual and quarterly reports and other public stateméntsl
how the MCP paymeﬂts affected its annual and quarterly operating results, and thus did not alert
investors to its receipt of a material and pbtentially non-recurring source of funds.

79. ' A significant reduction mn ¢ither the MCP or MDF payments would have .had_a
- materially unfavorable impact on Dell’s operating incorﬁe. By the time that Dell filed its FY2006
Form 10-K, it intended .to end its exclusive relationship with Intel. When Dell filed this Form
10-K, Michael Dell, Rollins, and Schneider knew that Dell would not actually have any AMD.

products to ship until Q3FY07 at the earhiest. As aresult, they knew that in Q1FY07 and Q2FY07,
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fhéré 'could not be any positive effects to operating ir_xco_mé to offset the l'bss of MCP payments
prior to actually having AMD‘ products available for sale. They could not héve dctermined that a
. material effect on Dell’s opé_rating results was not reasonably likely to occur. | |

80. Iﬁtel’s response to Dell’s decision to add AMD to its pr‘oduct lines was a known
uncertainty thaf Deli reasonably expected Woﬁld have a matenially unfavérablle impacf on its
operatin‘g imncome. By not.d'isclosing' such matenal uncer;ainty in its Form 10-K for the year ended. |
February 3, 2006, Dell’s MD&A failed to comply with Item 303(a)(3)(ii) in its FY06 Form 10-K
and concealed the material risks from investors. 7

81.  Michael Dell r¢viewed, approved, and signed Dell’s F orms IO;K for FY03 through
| _ FYO6, and reviewed and approved. Dell’s Forms 10-Q from Q2FY03 fhrou_gh Q1FYO05. Michael
Dell also reviewed and approved Dell’s Form 10-Q for Q1FY07. Rollins reviewed, approved, and
signed Dell’s Forms 10-K for FY05 and FY06, and reviewed and approved Dell’s Forms 10-Q for
Q2FYO05 through Q1FY07. Schneide_r reviewed, approved, and s‘igned Dell’s Forms 10-K for
FYO03 through FY06 and .reviewed, approved, and signed Dell’s Forms 10-Q from Q1FY03
through QI1FYO07. | |

82. Pursuant to section 302 of thé Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Michael Dell ceﬁiﬁed that
Dell’s Forms 10-K for FY03 and FY04 and Forms 10-Q filed with the Commié’sion between
September 16, 2002 and June 9, 2064 complied with Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbane‘s—Ox_ley Act, Rollins certified that Dell’s F orms 10-K for FY05 and
FY06 and Forms 10-Q filed with the Commission between September 7, 2004 and June 7, 2006
complied with Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. Pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes—Oxley

Act, Schneider certified that Dell’s Forms 10-K for F'Y03 through FY06 and Dell’s Forms 10-Q
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filed _'\'nith the Commission between Septe'mb'er-. 16, 200_2 and June 7, 2006 complied with Section

13(a) of thé Exchange Act.

THE ACCOUNTING VIOLATIONS

83. From.FYOZ toFYOS, Dell used a vaniety of “cookie jar” reserves and otherwise
manipulated reserve accounté to manage its financial results. Contrary to GAAP, Dell created and
maintained exceés accruals in multiple reserve acc.ounts', which Dell used to offset the financial
- stafement impact of future expenses. |

84. As explained more fully below, these n.uanipulations were undertaken to meet
consensus earnings targets or to misstate materially important financial metrics. These
manipulations not only méterially'.misstated Dell’é- ﬁnancial results, but cnused_ material
misétatements in Dell’s annual and quarterly réports filed with the Commission during the period. -
The conduct deécribed in paragraphs 83 through 131 is not part of the basis for the charges against
Michael Dell and Rollins.

85. Dell manipulated reserves including a) the Strat Fund and other “Corpqrate
Contingencies”; b) other cookie jar reserves identi_ﬁed in Risks and Opportunities schedules;.c) an
improperly—established. and used restructuring reserve; d) several reserves in'EMEA;' e) (;ookie jar
reserves in bonus and profit-sharing accounts; and f) an under-accrued Las Cimas liability reserve.

86. = The Financiél Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial
Aécounﬁng Standards No. 5, Accounling for Contingencies (“FAS 5”) and the related
interpretation.s are among the principal GAAP provisions that govern the recognition of loss
accruals and reserves. These accounting principles provide, among other things, that a loss accrual
should be recognizéd with a charge to inéome when a loss 1s probable and reasonably estimable.

The maintenance of reserves for general or unspecified business risks (sometimes called “general
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reserves” or “cookie jar reserves”) is not pénnitfed under GAAP. Further, the accoqnting
principlcs provide, among othér things, thaf any over-accrual of a reserve should be reversed ‘i.nto
the income statement as soén as the over-accrual is discoyered.

87.  The impacts. of Dell’s reserve mahipulétions fnateriélly misstated Dell’s operating
results. In certain quarte;s, the nia-niﬁulations enabled Dell to méet_ analyst cénsensp‘s EPS
estimates. The manipulations also enabled D.ell to misstate‘mat,erially the trend_ and amount of
operating incqrﬁe from Q3FY03 through Q1FYO0S5 of its EMEA segment, an important business
unit that Dell higﬁlighted. Instead of increasing every quarter from Q2FY03 through Q1F YOS,
EMEA’s operating income varied substantially.

88. Théreserve manipulétions' also alvloWed Dell mateﬁally'to misstate its operating
expenses (;‘OpEx”) as a percentage of revenue (“OﬁEx percentage” or “OpEXx ratio”), énd the
quarter to quarter trend in ﬂﬁs ratio, foerver three years, ﬁom about Q2FY02 through about
Q2FYO05. The OpEx ratio was an important financial metﬁc that the Company. itsél_f highlighted.
As reported, Dell’s OpEx ratio during this period was an artificial ana fabricated pattern, as shown

‘below:
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In the MD&A of every Form 10-Q from Q1FY03 through Q2FY05, and in other public statements,
Dell highlighted each decrease in the ratio as achieving a “record low,” and each instance where
the ratio remaiﬁed flat as maintaining or continuing the “record low.” Dell attributed such
“records” to reported decreases in the ratio of 0.3% in Q1FY03 (ﬁom 10.2 % to 9.9%); 0.2% in
Q2FY04 (frofn 9.8% to 9.6%,), and just 0.1% in Q1FY04 from (9.9% t0 9.8%). Dell attributed
achieving or continuing the “record lows” to “cost reduction initiafives” or a “focus on cost
éontrols.” In fact, Dell’s feport'ed OpEx ratio during this period was impacted by accounting
man.ipulations, a;nd the actual ratio generally varied materially from quarter to quarter during this

period.
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A. | The Strat Fund and Other “Corporate Contingencies”
89.. From F‘Y'02 to FY05, Dell maintajned a general reserve 'called the “Strat Fund”
~ (short'for “Stratg:gic Fund,” which is unrelated to fhe “Tacti_cal-and Strétegic Fund” discussed
above). This was a cookie j>ar reserve that Dell rﬁaintaihed primarily to reduce future OpEx.
Dell’s corporate finance groilp referred to the Strat Fund and other improper .reserves they
controlled as “contingencies” or “co‘rporzﬁe conﬁﬂgencies.” These “cookie jar” reserves consisted
of excess, unsupported balances that resided in accounts controlled by the corporate finance group,
including an “ether accrued liabilities” account, which Dell executives frequently referred fo by its
" number, 24990. The Strat Fund was a “sub—acéount,-” 6r subset, of 24990. Dell used thé corporate
contingencies primarily to reduce its futuré OpEx by releasing these excéss accruals when
unforecasted eXpenseé arose. |
| 90. Dell tracked. the corporate contingencies in schedules entitled “Estimated

Contingencieé in Corporate” (hefeinéfter “cox;porate contingency schedules”). Dell’s CAO asked_
his 'sﬁbordinates to provide hirh_ those schedules at least once per quarter. The CAO instruéted
subordinates to transfer “excess” accruals — previously-reserved amoﬁnts no longer ﬁeeded for
boné fide liabilities — to the corporate contingéncies. |

91.  Inthe 14 quarters from Qvl FY02 through Q2FY05, Dell made at least 23 releases
from the Strat Fund and other corporate contingencies, 16 of which were recorded after quarters
ended, while Dell was in the process of closing its books. In a Restatement filed in October 2007,
Dell reversed all Strét Fund activity and all excess balances for the other reserves that appeared on
the corporate contingency schedules.

92. Schneider knew or was reckless in not knowing that Dell improperly maintained
excess reserves in the corporate contingencies for use in future periods. Schneider received

information about the excess reserves from the corporate finance group. In an email sent to the
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CAQO just after the FY03 close, a member of the corporate finance group sfated, /“Thg one quarter
end thing that I owe Jim is below. He was asking . . . what our contingency is.” Asa CPA and a
former Audit Partner with Price Waterhoﬁse, Schneider knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that
keeping cookie jar reserves in the corporate contingencies was not in conformance with GAAP.
Nonetheless, Schneider signed one or more management representation letters to ?WC in which
he.certiﬁed thatiDell"s consolidated financial statements complied with GAAP. Schneider also
reviewed, approved, .sign'ed and/or certified the accuracy of Forms 10-K and 10-Q that materially
misstated Dell’s financial results because of Dell’s improper accounting for the_ corporate |
contingenciés. Schneider approved the filings of these periodic reports even though he knew, or

“was reckless in not knowing, that Dell’s accounting for the corporate contingeﬁcies was not in
conformance with GAAP.

93. Dell received substantial assistance in connection with the corporate contingenéies
from Jackson, a Dell Ass‘istant Corporate Controller, and others. Jackson knew or was reckless in
not knowing that Dell improperly maintained excess reserves in the corporaté contingencies for
use in future periods. Jackson received several e-mails attaching the corporate contingency
schedules, which tracked such excess reserves, and communicated with others about the corporate
contingencies. Copies of the schedules were kept in a quarterly closing binder that Jackson
maintained and used when briefing top finance executives. As a CPA and former Senior
Accountant ét Arthur Young:and Ernst & Young, Jackson knew or was reckless 1 not knowing
that this use of cookie jar reserves was not in conformance with GAAP. Nonethele:’ss, J ackson
signed one or more management representation letters to PWC in which she certified that Dell’s
cons?)lidated financial statements complied with GAAP. Jackson also reviewed the Forms 10-K

and 10-Q that materially misstated Dell’s financial results because of Dell’s improper accounting
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fer the cerpofate continéencies. J ackson approved the filings of these periodic reports even theugh
she k_new, or was reckiess in not knowing, that Dell’s éccountin_g for the corporate contingencies
was nof n confonnanee with GAAP. |

B.  Other Cookie Jar Reserves Identified.in “R&O Schedules”

94.  Beginning in or about Q1FYO01 through about Q2FY04, Dell’s Corporate
Reporting group prepared, from time to time, a list of iterns that could help or hinder Dell’s efforts
to meet its financial targets. Corporate Reporting compiled the itcrhs in spreadsheets called “Risks
and Opportun_ities Schedules” (“R&O Schedules™). Schneider and Dell’s CAO reviewed or were
briefed 'frem the R&O Schedules and used the information to decide whether and to what extent.
opportunities should be booked. Like -th_e Corporate Contingency Schedules, the R&O Schedules '
included excess resefves that Dell was caﬁying from pertod to pertod. The R&O Schedules also . -
~ included non-Corporate accounts, such as reserves maintained in Dell’s regional business

segments. The R&O Schedules reﬂeet excess accruals carried over from prior periods and
| improperly released in later periods. Examples include a $6 million release in Q3FY02 and a $5
fnillion release in Q3FY03.

C. Dell’s Improper Establishment and Use of Restructuring Reserves

95. FASB Emerging Issues Task Force.Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for
Certain Employee T ermindtjon Benefits énd Other Costs to Exit an Activity, (including Certain
Costs Incurred in a Restructuring) (“EITF 94-37), and the related interpretations are among the .
pri.n‘cipal GAAP provisions that relate to accounting and disclosure of certain costs and liabilities
for restructuring activiﬁes, which inciude such things as involuntary employee terminations,
contract terminations, and efforts to consolidate or close facilities. These principles allow
companies to accrue for restructuring expenses to be incurred in future quarters when certain

conditions are met, such as commitment to a formal restructuring plan, notification to affected
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~ employees and establishment of a probable and reasonable estimaté of the aﬁﬁcipated
restrucfun'ng costs. Further, the principles provide that related ;estructuring- resergzes should be
regularly re—eyéluated and ény amounts no Iongér needed for the original purpose revefsed to
income. Retaining excess reserve amounts or using them for purposés other than that for which
they were ériginally intended is not penﬂiﬁ¢d under GAAP. Furthermore, cc;sts incurred, but not
speciﬁcally contemplated in the original estimate,'must‘be charged to income in the period m
which the expense is incurred.

96. In Q2FY02 (ended August 3, 2001), Dell re.cor‘ded a $48é million charge to income
and eétablished relétcd restructuring liabilities in various reserve accounts. In its Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended August 3, 2001, Dell disclosed that it recorded the chafge to reduce its workforcé
and exit cenéin activities. GAAP required the amount of the charge to be based on Dell’s best
estimate$ of fuhne'qualifying'restrucuﬁing costs. If Dell subsequently determined that amounts in
the reserves were no longer needed for their originally intended puxposes, or e);ceeded what the
company‘ believed Would ultimately be needed, GAAP required Dell to release those excess
amounts to the company’sjincome statement.

97. Dell improperly built excess accruals into the reserve at its inception, and from
Q3FY02 to Q3FY04, maintained excess amounts from the restructuring reserve rather than
releasing them to income as required by GAAP. Over at least six quarters during this period, Dell
used this excess to offset the impacts of unrelated period costs resultiﬁg in a material
misrepresentation of its OpEx.

98.  Dell tracked the excess amoﬁnts in the restrucfurihg reserves, and employees of
Dell referred to these amounts internally as “cushions” or “available” balances. From Q4FY02 to

Q2FY04, Dell’s CAO received status updates at least once eVery quarter that tracked these.
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.imprOpér accruals. These documents identified amouhts tﬂat were “re-d_eéigﬁated"" to 24.99(_) énd '
_ other excess amounts still in Dell’s restructuring reserves that did not comply with GAAP

99. Schneider knew, or was reckless in not knoWing, tfxat the restructuring reserve
iﬁcluded excess accruals. In November 2001, Dell’s Corporate-Aséistant Coﬁtroller informed.
Schneider of‘ excess n the restructuring réserve and Schneider instruqtéd the éorporaté Assistant
Controller and CAO not to take a negative special charge (i.e. revérse excesé amounts back to the
income statement as required by GAAP). Schneider received at léast one quarterly status update
on the restructuring reserve (in Q4FY02) which set forth the z_am_dunt “available” in the reserve at |
that pdint in time.

100. Schneider also knew, or was reckless in not knowing, thaf excess from the
festructuring reserve was being used to offset unrelatea operating expenses. On at least one
-occasion, Schneider was informed that excess from the restructuring reserve was being utilized to
cover an operating expense that was unrelated ‘to the reserve. In May 2003, Dell’s Corporaté
Assistant Controller told Schneider that he and the CAO had “held back $ 1707 mjllion of
redesignated special charge reserves” to cover an @related to the IRS payment. Schneider knew,
or was reckless in not knowing, that that the utilization of excess from the restructuring reserve in
~ this manner was not in conformance with GAAP. Nonetheless, Schneider signed one or more
management representation letters to PWC in which he ceﬁiﬁed that Dell’s consolidatéd financial
statements complied with GAAP.

101.  Dell failed to disclose that excess amounts were utilized for non-restructuring
related activities. Dell’s annual report on Form 10-K filed with the Commission on May 1, 2002

and Dell’s quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q filed with the Commission on September 16, 2002 and

December 16, 2002 also misrepresented restructuring reserve amounts as “paid,” when in fact a
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portion of them haci been deemed as 'eXcéss and re-designated to other accounts to be used for

ﬁ_nrelated items. In his rolé as Chief Accounting_Ofﬁcer and CFO, Schneider signed Dell’s Form
10-K filed with the Commission on May 1, 2002 and Dell’s Fpnn 10-Q filed with the Commission
on September 16, .2002. Schneider signed the section 302 Sarbanes-Oxley certiﬁcatioﬁ for Dellv"'s o
Form 10-Q filed with the Commission oﬂ De_cembér 16, 2002. Séhneider ap;.)roved the ﬁlingé of
these periodic reports even thOugh he knew, or was reckless in not knowing, thét Dell’s accounting
. for the Q2FY02 restructuring reserve was ﬁot in conformance witﬁ GAAP. |

D. Accounting Manipulations of Reserves at EMEA

102. In addition to its improper establishment and use of a Corporate restructuring:
reserve in FY02, Dell iﬁlproperly created and released a restructuring reserve in its EMEA
segment in FY03 and FY04 in contravention of GAAP.

103. EMEA was an important part of Dell’s business and Dell highlighted EMEA.as a
significant compénent of its operations: In FY03, EMEA generated 19.5% of Dell’s revenués and
13.6% of the company’s operating income. In FY04, EMEA grew to 20.5% of Dell’s revenues
and 18% of the company’s operating income.

104. From. Q3FYO03 through QlF.YO4,. EMEA improperly accrued a $26 million reserve
to offset the anticipa_ted expenses for a future regional “restructuring.”. Building the reserve
prematurely caused EMEA to uﬁderstate its operating income from the Q3FY03 through Q1FY04,
and enabled the region to overstate its operating income by $23.5 million in Q2F Y04, when
EMEA released most of the improper reserve.

105. In furtherance of this scheme, Dunning, one of EMEA’s two finance directors
reporting to Schneider at the tirﬁe, and EMEA’s accounting team reserved for liabilities in a
manner inconsistent with GAAP and misstated EMEA’s books and records. After Schneider

refused Dunning’s request to take a special charge to pay for employee termination and relocation
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éxpenses mn EMEA, Dunning participated n the imprope'r creation, maintenance, and release of |
€XCESS Teserves from Q3FY03 to Q3FY04 td offset restructuring éxperises. The restructuring
feserves, which grew to $26 millién, had been created to offset expeﬁses incurred in future periods,
even though Dell had not .foﬁﬁali_zed or announced its EMEA reétructun'ng plan in a way that
would have beeﬁ consistent with GAAP. The restructuring reserves were irﬁproperly classified iﬁ
" Dell’s books as reserves for factory invbices, an eXpense cdmpletely unrelated to restructuring.

106. In addition to improperly creafing a restructuring reserVe, EMEA‘improperly_-
released accruals from bona fide reserves to boost its operating income in Q2FY04. Dunﬁing
knew or was reékless in not- knowing that EMEA, with no Ieéitimate justiﬁcation and contrary to
| GAAP, released $10.8 million from _these accounts in 1arée, round_-nuniber journal entries on o?
about Augustr6, 2003, the day before EMEA’s books closed. Twelve days after rgéording .these :
enﬁ*ies, EMEA reversed them in a $10.8 million ehtry described only as a “JULYQA(_Z
Adjustment.” EMEA’s releasé of the $10.8 million boosted the EMEA segment’s operating
income 8 peréént, allowing EMEA to report $138 million in Q2FY 04 operatihg income internally.
After a $7 million topside allocation from Corporate, Dell ultimately reported EMEA’s operating
.income as $145 million in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended August 1, 2003.

107. Two quarters later, in Q4FY04, EMEA created an improper cookie jar reserve. By
the end of Q4FY 04, Dunning and fhe EMEA finance team realized that EMEA would, in fhe
ordinary course of business, signiﬁcantly exceed its operating income projections for that period.
Ratﬁer than réco—rd all of the excess as income, EMEA’s finance tearﬁ, with Dunning’s knowledge,
transferred $16 million from EMEA’s income statement to various reserve accounts on EMEA’s

balance sheet. Dunning gave no direction to remove the improper cookie jar reserve and informed

Schneider of its existence.



108. Omor about_ February 4, 2004, the day before EMEA closed its -bobks for the
quarter, Schneider a‘sked Dunning about EMEA’S reserves, inquiring whether t_hé"region had beén
“able to keep some cushion.” Dunning replied that EMEA could have recorded higher operating
income and fhat.he “put $16M away.” Schneider did not direct that the improper reserves be
reversed. | i

| 109. Creating the $16 mi‘llion cookie jar reserve caused EMEA to understate its _
operating i'ncome in.Q4FYO4 by 8 percent. In a slide presented in its February 12, 2004 ea‘mihgs
call and subsequently posted on its website, Dell disclosed that the EMEA segment had earned
$192 million in operating income in Q4FYO4. |

~ 110:  In the following quarter, the EMEA Finance Djirector who had been co-head of -
Finance with Dunning before assuming sole responsibility for EMEA finance, informed Séhneider '
‘that EMEA was haviﬂg difficulty meeting its $159 millioh operating income target. Schneider
- questioned the Finance Director’s proj ecti;)n, telling him that EMEA’s balance sheet was
“probably ovér accrued,” and instructed, “[w]e need $175m. You need to tell me how we will get
it. Isuggest you not be too proud and see what [D]unning has socked away.” The Finance
Director complied with the request, and released the $16 million that had been put away.

111. The release of this cookie jar reserve allowed the EMEA segment to report eight
consecutive quarters of increasing operating income. In fact, without the cookie jar reserve,
EMEA’s operating income in Q1FY05 would have declined by about 12.5% from the prior quarter,
ratﬁér than increased by 3.1%.

112.  Schneider made materially false and misleading representations to PWC about
EMEA’s interim financial information for Q1FYO0S5 in a management representation letter, which

he signed.
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E. ‘Dell’s Cbokie Jar Reserves in its Bonps and Profit Sha_-ring Accduflts
113. In addition to using general reserves to ma.riage its operating results, Dell
manipulated its‘bom'ls and profit sharing reserve accounts in_multiplé quarters in FY02 to FYO03 to
manage its operating results.
| 114. - In March 2001 (Q1FY02), Dell’s Compensation Co’mmitte.e de;cided oﬁ a
bonus/profit sharing payout for'FYOl that was less than the a'cérual the company had created to
fund the payout. Dell knew that it had over—accruedi for the FYO1 bonus/profit sharing payout
before it filed its FY01 Form i-O—K in May 2001. Contrary to GAAP,. Dell bled down the excess
bonus resérves in later éeriods, from Q2FY02 through' Q1 FY03, to manaéé Dell’s reported OpEx.
115. In March 2002 (QIFYO3), Dell’s Compensétion Committee decided bn é
bonus/profit sharing payout for FY02 that was again less than what thé company had accrued.
'D'ell knew that it had over—accr_ued for the FY 02 payout before it ﬁléd its FY02 Form 10-K in May
2002. Again, contrafy to GAAP, Dell bled down the excess bonus reserves in léter periods, from
Q2FY03 through Q3FY03, to manage Dell’s reported OpEx. As it had done in the prior year, Dell
periodically tracked the releases in the bonus and profit shaning reserves.
| 116. Schp_eider knew or was reckless in not knowing that.Dell improperly bled down |
excess bonus reserves. In an email exchange with the Vice President of Corpérate Planning and
Reporting in Q3FY02 regarding bonus scenarios, Schneider stated that one of the scenarios “sﬁll
~ leaves you with an over acérual from last year.” The Vice President f_espond‘ed, “I have‘ assumed
that the priof year overaccrual will be fully bled out by the end of this year. (As discussed this
morning, a lot of these bleeds have been built into the Corp Gen budget for Q2 - Q4.)” As a CPA
and a former Audit Partner with Pﬁce Waterhouse, Schneider knew, or was reckléss in not
knowing, that the bleeding down of bonus overaccruals was not in cbnformance with GAAP.

Nonetheless, Schneider signed one or more management representation letters to PWC in which
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' hg'certiﬁed that Dell’s consolidated financial statements complied with GAAP. Schflgider also
reviewed, approved, signed and/or certified the. accuracy of Forms 10-K and 10-Q that métérially
misst_éted Dell’s financial results because of Dell;s improper accounti_ng for the bonus/proﬁt
shaﬁng overaccrualé. Schneider approved the filings of these periodic reports even though he
knew, or was reckless in not kﬁoWing, that Dell’s acéounting for the bonus ovelzraccrual-s was hot n
- conformance with GAAP. o

F. Dell’s Improper Failure to Increase Reserves for Las Cimas Liabilities

117. Dell included a provision in the FY02 restructuring reserve to cover the costs of
closiﬁg its Las Cimas facility iﬁ Texas. In May 2002 (Q1FY03), Dell learned that its previously
established reserve for exiting its Las Cimas facility was under-accrued. Dell did not at that time
«quantify the additional reserves needed for Las Cimas and record a corresponding liability, as
GAAP required. It was not until October 2005 (Q3FY06) that Dell increased its réserv’es for
closing the Las Cimas facility. |

118. By QIFYO03, Schneider knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that Las Cimas was
under-accrued. A March 6, 2002 (Q1FY03) Facilities Steering Committee presentation reflected
that the Committee decided to pursue subleases for Las Cimas at low market rates resulting in
greater costs than originally reservéd. Schneider was the co-chair of Dell’s Facilities Steering
Committee. Despite this understanding, Schneider did not take steps at that time to quantify the
additional reserves needed for Las Cimas, as GAAP required.

119. By QlFYO4, Schneider had received an analysis from Dell’s Facilities Groﬁp
quantifying the amount by which Las Cimas was under-accrued. In May 2003, Schneider gave a
presentation to Dell’s Strategy Committee projecting Facilities shortfélls exceeding $60 million

from FY2004 to FY2011. Despite this understanding, Schneider did not take steps to record a
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'l.iabﬂi'ty for the Las Cimas under-accrual required by GAAP. Dell did not reserve for the Las

Cimas liability until October 2005.

DELL’S RESTATEMENT

120. Onor about August 17, 2006, Dell issued a press release, and filed a Form 8-K-with
the Corﬁmission_, .aImo_uricin'g that.its audit committee had begun conductihg an independent.
investigation into cértéiﬁ of Dell’s accounting and ﬁnahgial reporting practices.‘

121. On ér. about August 16, 2007, Dell filed with the Commission a Form 8-K
'announcing that the investigation had been completed, and fhe results reported to the audit -
committee. In the August 16 Form 8-K, Dell announced that its audit committee had‘ concl_uded
that Dell’s pre{ziously issued financial statements for FY03, FY04, FY05, and FY06, including the
| interim periods within those years, and Q1FY07 (“Reétatement Period”) “should no longer be
relied upon.” |

122. Inthe August 16 Form 8-K, Dell also announced that it would restate thé. previously
1ssued financial statements for the Reétatement Period. Under GAAP, a restatement is required if
there is a material error in the_ﬁnancial statements. Dell stated that: “The accounting errors and,
ifregularities thai will be corrected are significant because of the combination of the number of -
issues identified, the qualitative néture of many of the issues, and in some cases, the dollar
amounts involved ”

12.3. On or about October 30, 2007 Dell filed its Form 10-K with the Commlsswn for
the fiscal year ended February 2, 2007. The 2007 Form 10-K contained the restated financial |

statements for the Restatement Period.
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124.. The Form 10-K, in both the MD&A and notes to the financial statements, -
summarized the findings of the audit committee investigation (“Summary of Investigation
Findings™). Dell stated in its 2007 Form 10-K:

The investigation raised questions relating to numerous accounting issues, most of
which involved adjustments to various reserve and accrued liability accounts, and
identified evidence that certain adjustments appear to have been motivated by the
objective of attaining financial targets. According to the investigation, these
activities typically occurred in the days immediately following the end of a quarter,
when the accounting books were being closed and the results of the quarter were
being compiled. The investigation found evidence that, in that timeframe, account
balances were reviewed, sometimes at the request or with the knowledge of senior

_executives, with the goal of seeking adjustments so that quarterly performance
objectives could be met. The investigation concluded that a number of these
adjustments were improper, including the creation and release of accruals and
reserves that appear to have been made for the purpose of enhancing internal
performance measures or reported results, as well as the transfer of excess accruals
from one liability account to another and the use of the excess balances to offset
unrelated expenses in later periods. . . . The investigation identified evidence that
accounting adjustments were viewed at times as an acceptable device to
.compensate for earnings shortfalls that could not be closed through operational
means. :

. 125, Dell’s 2007 Form 10-K further stated in thé Summary of Investigation Findings:
“[I]n a number of instances, purposefully incorrect or incomplete information about these
activities was provided to internal or external auditors.” Dell also stated in the Summary that:
“The érrors and irregularities identified in the course of the investigation revealed deficiencies in
Dell’s accounting and financial control.environment, some of which were detérmined to be
material wealcnesseé, that require.corrective and remedial actions.”

126. D_ell’s Form 10-K described the “Restatement Adjustments” in the MD&A and
more fully in the notes to the financial statements, referred to in the MD&A. Dell reiterated that
the financial statements for the Restatement Period “should no longer be relied upon.” Among the
Restatement Adjustments were “Unsubstantiated Accruéls_and Inadequately Regonciled

Accouhts,” In its 2007 Form 10-K, Dell stated that
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In some instances accrual and reserve accounts lacked justification or supporting
documentation. In certain cases these accounts were used to accumulate excess
amounts from other reserve and accrual accounts. However, these excess reserves
were not released to the income statement in the appropriate reporting period or
were released for other purposes. . . .

127. Dell’s 2007 Form IO-K, in Item 9A, contained “Management’s Rebort on Internal
- Control Over Financial Reporting.” The Report stated that internal coﬁhol ir‘lcludes, among othef
thir_lgs, those policies and procedures . . . which “provide reasonable assuran@:e that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of ﬁ_nancial stateménts in accordance with GAAP.?’
Aé stated in the report:- “A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over financial reporting that there is more than a remote likelihood that a material -
misstatement of the annual or ihterim financial statements will not be prevented or detected.”

128. The Report concluded that there were material weaknesses in Dell’s internal
control over ﬁnanéial-reporting as of February 2, 2007. With respect to the control environment,

management concluded:

We did not maintain a tone and control consciousness that consistently emphasized
strict adherence to GAAP. This control deficiency resulted in an environment in
which accounting adjustments were viewed at times as an acceptable device to
compensate for operational shortfalls, which in certain instances led to
inappropriate accounting decisions and entries that appear to have been largely
motivated to achieve desired accounting results and, in some instances, involved
management override of controls. In a number of instances, information critical to
an effective review of transactions and accounting entries was not disclosed to
internal and external auditors. '

129. With respect to the period-end financial reporting process, management concluded

that there was also a material weakness:

We did not maintain effective controls over period-end reporting process, including
controls with respect to the review, supervision, and monitoring of accounting
operations. Specifically: . . .

We did not design and maintain effective controls to ensure the completeness,
accuracy, and timeliness of the recording of accrued liabilities, reserves, and
operating expenses . . .
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130. Management concluded that: ;‘These material weaknesses resulted in.the_
re'statément of our annual and interim financial statements for Fiscal 2003, 2004, 20053, and 2006
and the first quarter of F 1sca1 2007.....

131 '. Dell S Form 10- K contained the Report of Independent Regxstered Pubic
| Accountmg Firm, dated October 29; 2007 by PWC Dell’s independent auditors. PWC audited

‘management’s assessment of internal controls, included in Management’s Repbrt on Intemal

| Control. PWC rendefed its opinion that “manégement’s assessment that the Company did not
maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 2, 2007, is fairly stat’.ed,
in all métérial respects. . . .” PWC also rendered its opinion that “because of the effects of the

material weaknesses . . . on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company

has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 2, 2007. . ..”

DELIL’S SECURITIES OFFERINGS

132. Dell filed with the SEC registration statements dn Forms S-8 on Septernber 20,
2001, October 4, 2002, and December 16, 2003. The Forms S-8 filed in September 2001 and
October 2002 were signed by Michael Dell and Schneider. The two Forms S-8 that Dell filed in
December 2003 were signed by Michael Dell, Schneider, and Dell’s CAO. The Forms S-8
mentioned above eaéh épeciﬁcally_incorporated .by reference the Form 10-K for the fiscal year-
preceding the Form S-8 and the Forms 10-Q for the ﬁsca_l year in which the Form S-8 was filed.
For _example,, the_: two Forms S-8 filed in December 2003 (Q4FY04) incorporated Dell’s FY03
Form 10-K and Dell’s Forms 10-Q for QIFY04, QZFYO4, and Q3FY04. The Forms S-8 also each
incorporate all subsequently filed Forms 10-K and Forms 10-Q “prior to the filing of a

post—effe.c‘tive amendment.” Except for one Form S-8 filed on September 20, 2001, none of the
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F bﬁhs S-8 mentioned above were subject to the filing of a post-effective amendméxlf during the
period relevant fo the allegations set forth above. | |

133.  Deli offered and sold securities continuously from FY2002 through FYQOO’Z
through various means. Dell bperated an “Employee Stock Ownership Program,” pursuant to |
which it boffered and sold common stock to its employees. Dell also offered a;nd sold securities to_.
the public through a “Direct Stock Purchasé -Proéram” (DSPP). In addition, Dell granted options

and restricted stock to its employees.

FIRST CLAIM

Violations of Sectioh 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. §77q(a)]

(Against Dell Inc.)
134. Paragraphs 1, 4-18, and 83-133 are realleged and incorporated by re_fereﬁce as if set
forth fully herein. |
| 135. By reason of the conduct alleged above, Dell, in the offer or sale of secuﬁﬁes, by
the use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or |
by use of the mails, directly or indirectly, employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud.
136. By reason of the conduct alleged above,-Dell violated Section 17(a)(1) of the

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1)].

SECOND CLAIM

“Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5
Promulgated Thereunder [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5]

(Against Dell Inc.)

137. Paragraphs 1, 4-18, and 83-133 are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set

~ forth fully herein.
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138. By reason of the conducf alleged abdve., Déll, in connection with‘the purchase or
| sale of secﬁrities, by the use éf the means or instrumentalities of interstate cbmmerce, or of the
mails, or of the facilities of a natidnai securities exchange, directly or indirecﬂyz (2) employed
.‘ devices, schemes or artifices to d'eﬁéud; .(b)-m'ade uhtme statements of material fact or omitted td »
' state material facts necessary in order to make the statements rriade, in light o.f tﬁe cirCumst_anceS
uﬁder- which they were made, not mislééding; or (c) engaged in acts, pracﬁces_ or courses of
business which operated or wéﬁld operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.

139. By reason of the conduct alleged above, Dell violated Section 10(b) of the |
.Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F .R. § 240.10b-5].

THIRD CLAIM

Violations of Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act
' [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)(2) and (3)]

(Agéinst Dell Inc.; Michael Dell, Rollins, and Schﬂeider)_-

14Q. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-133 above, which are realleged
and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Déll, in the offer or sale of securities, by
the use of the means or instruments of transpoﬁation or commum'cation in interstate commerce or
by ﬁse of the mails, directly or indirectly, (a) obtained money or property by means of untrue
statements of material fact or omissions to staté material facts necessary in order to make the
statements made, in the light of the circuﬁétmcw under \;vhich they were made, not misleading;
and (b) engaged'_in transac’t'ions,.practices or courses of business which operated or would operate
as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities. By reason of the conduct alleged above,
Dell violated Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of fhe Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

141. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-3, 5-82, and 132-133 above,

which are realleged and iné_orporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Michael Dell, in the
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offer or sale of securities, byl\the use of the means of instruments of transportation'or
communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails;'directly or indirectly, (a) obtained
money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state material
facts necessary in order to make the statements made, io the light of the _circumstaﬁces under which
they were made, not r.m'sleading;. and (b) engaged in transactions, practiceé or. courseo of businessr
' Which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon fhe purchasers of such securities. By
reason of the conduct alleged abovo, Michael Dell violated Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

142. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-3, 5-82, and 132-133 above,
which are realleged and'incorpofa_ted by reference as if set forth fully heréiri, Roliiné,'.in the offer
or saie of securities, by the use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in
interstate commerce orrby use of the mails, directly or indirectly, (a) obtained money or propérty
by means of untrue stateménts of material fact or omissions to state material faots necessary in
_ order'to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which fhey were made,
not misleading; and (b) engaged in transactions, practices or courses of business which operated or
would.operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities. By feason of the conduct
alleged above, Rollins violated Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §
77q(a)]-

143. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-133 above, which are .realleged
and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Schhei'der, in the offer or sale of securities,
by the use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication. 1n interstate commerce
or by use of the mails, directly or indirectly, (a) obtained money or property by means of untrue

statements of material fact or omissions to state material facts necessary in order to make the
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statements mé*cie, n thf: light of the circﬁrristances under which they were made, riot_ misleading;
and (b) engégéd- iﬁ trénsactioﬁs, practices or courses of business which operated or would operate
“as a fraud or deceit upon the"pl.lrchas'ers of' such secun'ties".. By reasoh of the conduct alleged above,
Schncider _violated Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

. FOURTH CLAIM

Viollations' of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and i3(b)(2)(]3) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-
1, and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13]
(Against Dell Inc.)
144. Paragraphs 1-133 above are realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set
) forth herein. |
| 145. By reason of the conducf alleged above, Dell ﬁle& with the Commission materially
false and misleading annual reports on its Forms 10-K, and 'n.laten'ally false and misleading
quarterly reports on its Forms. 10-Q, during its fiscal years ended February 1, 2002, January 31,
2003, January 30? 2004, ] anuary 28, 2005 and February 3, 2006, and for .the fiscal quarter ended
May 5, 2006. | | |
146. By reason of the conduct alleged abové, Dell failed to make and keep books;
records, and accounts.that, in reasonable detail, accuratély and fairly reflected the fr_ansactions and
dispésition of its assets.
147. By réason of the conduct alleged above, Dell failed to devise and maintain a system
of iri&emal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurénces that transactionsrwere
recordéd as neceésary to permit preparation .of financial statements in conformity with generally -

accepted accounting principles, or any other applicable criteria and to maintain accountability for

assets.
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148. By reason of the condu& alleggd above, Dell violated S.e(.:'tio'ns 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A)
' aﬁd 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] aﬁd
Rules 12b-20, 13a-1,.and 13a—13-there_under [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and
240.13a-13].

FIFTH CLAIM

Aiding and Abetting Violationsl of Sgctions 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78ni(a)]
and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and
240.13a-13]

(Against Michael Dell, Rollins, Schneider, Jackson, and Dunning)

- 149. - By reason of the conduct alleged in parégraphs 1-3 and 5-82 above, which are
| realleged and incorporated By reference as if set forth fully herein, Dell violated Sections 13(a) of
the Exchange Act [15U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.FR.
- §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a—13]. Miéhael Dell aided and abetted certain of Dell’s
violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1,
and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13"(113], promulgatéd thereunder,
pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)].

150. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-3 and 5-82 above, which are
realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Dell violated Sections 13(a) of
the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R.
§§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13]. Rollins aided and abetted cerfain of Dell’s violations
of Sections 13(a} of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.b§ 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-i3
[17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13], promulgated thereunder, pursuant to
Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)].

151. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-133 above, which are realleged

and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Dell violated Sections 13(a) of the
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Ex_ciiange Act[15U.S.C. §' 78m(a)] and Rules 12.b'-20',-1-3a-1, and 13a—13 thereﬁnder_[l_7 C.FR.§§
| 240.. 12b-20, 240. 13a-i, and 240.13a-13]. Schneider aided and abetted certain of Dell’s violations
of Sections 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, léa—l, and. 135—13
[17 CF.R.§§ 240.12b~20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-l3.], promulgated thereﬁnder, pursuant to |
Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 781(e)]. | |

152. | By reason of the conduct alleged n paragraphs 1, 4-1 8, and 83-133 above, wl}ich
are realleged and incorporated by referencé as if set forth fully herein,_ Dell violated Sections 13(a)
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 theréundér [17
" CFR. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1,_ and 240.13a-13]. Jackson aided and abetted certain'of Dell’s
violations of Sections 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1,
and i3a~13 [17 C.F.IR. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13], prc_nimlgated thereundér,
pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)].

153. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-1 8, and 83-133 aboye, which
are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Dell violated Sections 13(a)
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder [17‘
CFR.§§ 240.12b—20, 240.13a-1, and 240.132a-13]. Dunning aided and abetted certain of Dell’s
violations of Sec%ions 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules i2b—20_, 13a-1,
and 13a-13 [17 C.FR. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, ahd 240.13a-13], promulgated thereunder, |

pursuant to Sectiion 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)].
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SIXTH CLAIM

- Aiding end Abetﬁng Violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A)-and 13(5).(2)(1_3) of the Exchange Act
" [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)]

(Against Schneider, Jackson and Dunning)

154. By reason of the conduct alleged in-paragréphs 1, 4—18 and 83‘-133 above, which
are realleged and mcorporated by reference as 1f set forth fully herem Dell v1olated Sections
13(b)(2)(A) and la(b)(z)(B) of the Exchange Act[15U.8.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)].
Schneider aided and abetted certain of Dell’s violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of
the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)], pursuant to Section 20(e) of the

‘Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 784(e)]. |

155. Byreason éf the conduct alleged in paragraphs i, 4-18, and 83-133 above, which
.are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Dell violated Sections
13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 781ﬁ(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)].
Jackson aided and abetted certain of Dell’s violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of
the Exchange Act [1'5‘ U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)], pursuant to Section 20(e) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78t(e)].

156. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-18, and 83-133 above, which
are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Dell violated Sections
13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §_§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)].
Dunning aided and abettec.l' certain of Dell’s violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of
the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)], pursuant to Section 20(e) of the

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78t(e)]. -
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SEVENTH CLAIM

Violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the
" Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(5)]

(Against Schneider, Jackson and Dunning) |

157. " By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-1 8‘,' and 83-133.‘ above, which
are réalleged and incorporated by referénce as if set f_ofth fully herein, Schneider knowingl? |
circumve:nted or knowingly failed to implement a system of internal accounting controls or
knowingly falsified, directly or indirectly, or caused to be félsiﬁed books, records and accounts of
| Dell that were subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)]. By
reasoﬁ of the foregoing, Schngider violated Séction 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
b)) | | | |

. 158. Byreason Qf the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-18, 83-93, and 120-133 above, -'
‘which are realleged and inéorporated by reference as if set.forth fully hérein, Jackson knowingly
circumvented or knowingly failed to implement a system of internal acéounting controls or
knowingly falsified, directly or indire’ctly, or caﬁsed to be falsified books, records and accounts of
‘Dell that were subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)]. By
reason of the foregoing, Jackson violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15U.S.C. §
78m(b)(5)].

159. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-18, and 83-133 above, which
are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Dunning knowingly
circumvented or knowingly failed to implement a system of internal accounting controls or
knowineg falsified, directly or indirectly, or caused to be falsified books, records and accounts of

Dell that were subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act {15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)]. By
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reason of the fdregoix{g; Dunning violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act[15 US.C. §

78m(b)(5)].
| EIGHTH CLAIM

Violatibné ;)f .Rule 13a-14 of the Exchange Act {17 C.F.R. §.240.13a-14]‘
' ('Agafinst Micﬁael Deﬂ, Rollins, and Sc#lneider) | .

.I 60 Michael Dell, as Dell’s principal executive officer, certified in-Dell’s FY03 and
- FY04 Forms 10-K, filed with thé Commission on April 28, 2003, and April 12, 2004, and in Dell’s
Forms 10-Q for Q2FY03, Q3FYO03, Q1FY04, Q2FY04, Q3FY04, and Q1FYO0S5, filed with-_tl.lle
Cornmission between September 16, 2002 and.June 9, 2004, that, among other things, he reviewed
each of these reports, and based on his knowledge, these reports: (i) did not contain any untrue
statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to mai(e the statements made, in
* light of the circumstances .under which they were made, not misieading and (i1) included financial
statements and other information which fairly presenf, in all material respects, Dell’s financial
- condition, results of operations and cash flows.

161. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragrapﬁs 1-3 and 5-82 above, which are
realleged aﬁd reincorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein,l Michael Dell violated
| Exchange Act Rule 13a-14 of the Exchénge Act, 17 C.F.R. §240.13a-14.

162.  Rollins, as Dell’s principal executive officer, certified in Dell’s FY05 and FY06
Foﬁns 10-K, filed with the Commission on March 8, 2005 and March 15, 2006, réspectivel_y, and
in Dell’s Forms '10-Q for QQFYos, Q3FY05, Q1FY06, Q2FY 06, Q3FY06, filed with the
Commission between Septémber 7, 2004 and Novémber 28, 2005, and for Q1FY07, filed with the
Commission on June 7, 2006, that, among other things, he reviewed each of these reports, and
based on his knowledge, these reports: (i) did not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
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- under which they were made, not misleading ana (11) included financial ététements_ and other
information which fairly present; in.all material resp'ects,. Deli’s fihancial condition, results of
“operations and éas_h flows. o
163 By reason of t'he.cc.mduct -alleged in paragfaphs 1-3 aﬁd 5-82 above, which are
'real-leged and reiﬁcorporated by referénce as if fully set foﬁh herein, Rollins violated Exchange
Act Rule 132-14 of the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.132-14. |
164.  Schneider, as Dell’s Chief Financial Officer, certified in Dell’s:FY03, FY04,F Y05
and FY06 Forms 10-K, filed with the Commission on April 28, 2003, April 12, 20.04, M‘ar;:h 8,
: 2005.'and March 15,2006, respectively, and in Dell’s Forms 1 O_—Q for Q2FY 03, Q3FY03, QIFYO4,
Q2FY04; Q3FYO4, QlFYOS, QZFYOS, Q3FY 05, QIFY06, Q2FY06, Q3FY06, and Q1FYO07 filed
with the Comm’ission 'betweeh,September 16, 2002 and June 7, 2006, that, among other things, he
réviéwed each of _thése reports, and based on his knowledge, these repbrts: (1) did not contain any
untrue statement of matenial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the stateménts
made, in light of the ,éircgumstances under which they were made, not misleading and (ii) included
financial statements and other information which fairly present, in all material respects, Dell’s
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. |
165. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1-333 above? which are realleged
and reincorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein, Schneider violated Exchange Act Rule
~ 13a-14 of the Exchange Act, i7 CFR.§ 240_,13a-14.

NINTH CLAIM

Violations of Rule 13b2-1 promulgéted under the Exchange Act {17 C.F R § 240.13b2-1]
(Against.Schneider, Jackson and Dunning)
166. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-18, and 83-133 above, which

are realleged and incorporéted by reference as if set forth fully herein, Schneider, directly or
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_ indi_reétly, falsified or caused to be falsiﬁf_:d, books, records, or accounts désqibed 1{1 Section

13(b).(.2)(A) of the Excﬁange Act[1 5.U.S.C. §. 78m(b)(_2)(A)].' By reason of’the'-cond'uct alleged
~ avae,'Schrieider violated Rule 13b2-1, promulgated ﬁnder the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R.
5240130211 | |
o 167. By ‘reason of t.he'. conduct alleged in paragraphé 1, 4-18, 83-93, and 120-133 above, |
which are réallcged and incorporated by reference as _if set forth fully herein, Jackson, directly or
indirectly, falsified or caused to be falsified, books, records, or .accounts described i Section
13(b)(2)(A) of the Exéhange Act[15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)]. By reason of the conduct alleged
above, Jackson violated Rule 13b2-1, promulgated under the Exchangej, Act[17 C.FR.
§240.13b2-1]. |

_ 168. By reason of the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-18, and 83-133 above, which

are réa’lieged and incorporéted by reference as if set forth fully herein, Dunning, directly or
indirectly, falsiﬁed or caused to be falsified, books, records, or accounts described in Seétion _
13(b5(2)(A)_ of the Exch&nge Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)]. By reason of the conduct alleged
above, bunning violated Rule 13b2-1, promulgated under the Exchange Act [17 CF.R. |
§240.13b2-1]. | |

TENTH CLAIM

Violations of Rule 13b2-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. §240_.13b2-2] |
(Against Schneider and Jackson)

169. By reason of thé conduct alleged in pafagraphs 1, 4-18, and 83-133 above, which
are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully hefein, Schneider,.directly' of
indirectly: (a) made or caused to be made a materially false or misleading statement to an
agcountant in connection with; or (b) omitted to state, or caused another person to omit to state,

any material fact necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstarice under
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which such statements were made, not miS]éading,'to an accountant in connection with: (1) any -
audit, review or .examina;ti'on of the ﬁnanpial statements of 'Dell required to b¢ made pursuant to
Section 13(b) of the Exchange Act ‘[iS U.S.C; § 78m(b)]; or (2) the p.reparation or filing of any
document or report reqtiired to be filed with the Commissioﬁ pursuant to Sedtion 13(a) of the
Exchangé Act[15US.C. § 78m(a)].-o'r otherwise. By reason of the conduct a‘lleged above,
Schneider violatéd Rule 13b2-2, promulgated under the Exchange Act[17CF.R.§ 240.;13b2-2]. |
170. By reason Q_f the conduct alleged in paragraphs 1, 4-18, 83-93, and 1.20-133.above,
which are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein, Jackson, directly or
| indirectly':' (a) made or caused to be made a materially false or misléading étatement to an
ac@duntaﬁt in c.onnection.with; or (b) omitted to state, or caused another person to omit to state,
any material fact necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumsténce under
which'such statements-wére made, not misleading, to an accountant in connection with: ( 1) any
audit, review or examinatidn of the financial statements of Dell required to.be made pursuant to
Section 13(b) of the Exchange Act[15U.S.C. § 78m(b)]; or (2) the prep‘arat'i()n or filing of any
document or report required to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.IS.C. § 78m(a)] or otherwise. By .reason of th¢ conduct alleged above,

Jackson violated Rule 13b2-2, promulgated under the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2].

" PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court enter a

judgment:
I.

Permanently restraining and enjoining:
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(a) defendant Dell, itsofﬁcers, agents, servants, employees, attor{leys, assigns
and all those pérsons in-active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the
- Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, aqd egch of them from, directly or indirectly,

' from violating Section 17(5) of the .Securities-Act, [15 U.S..C. § 77q(a)] and Sections 10(b), 13.(a),
" 13(B)(2)(A) and 13(B)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)2)(A) and
78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, 240.126-20,
240.1_3a—1, and 249.13&-13], promulgated »théreunder; |

(b) defendant Michael Dell, his agents, servants; employees and attorneys and
all persons in acfive concert or participation with him who receive actual nbﬁce of the‘FinaI -

J udgfnent by personal 'éervice or otherwise, and .eaCh of them from, directly or indirectly, from
violating Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Sécurities Act [15U.S.C. § 77q(a)] and Rule 13a-14 of the
: _Excha.nge Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14], and from aiding and abetting violations Vof Section 13(5)
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a—i3 [17 C.FR. §§
240.12b—20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-13], promulgated thereunder;

() defendant Rollins, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys and all .
persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of the Final Judgment
by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectiy, from violating
Section 17(a)(2) aﬁd (3) of the Securities Act [15 Us.C. § 77q(a)(2) and (3)] and Rule 13a-14 of
the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14], and from aiding and abetting violations of Section '
13(a) of the Excﬁa.nge Act [15 U.S.C. §§’78m(a)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R.
§§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a—13], promulgatéd thereunder;

(d) defendant Schneider, his agents, servants, employees and attormeys and all

persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of the Final Judgment
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.by personal service or btherwise, and éach of them from, direptIy or indirectly, fr'orr{ violating

~ Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2) and (3)], Rule 13a-14 of the
- Exchange Act [17 C.F'.R.. §’24‘0.13a—14]7, and Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15U.S.C. §
78m(b)(5)] and Rules 13b2-1 and 1352;2 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-2], promulgated
_t_héfeunder, and from aiding and abetting violatio.ns of Sections lé(a), 13(b)}(2)(A) and 13(b)(25(B) N
of the Exchange Act[15U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b—26,
| 13a-1, and 132-13 [17 C.F.R- §§ 240.12b—20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13], promulgated

~ thereunder;

(e) defendant Jackson, her agents, servants, employees and attorneys and Va.ll
persons in active concert or participation with her who receive actu_al notice of the Final J udginent
by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly 6r wmdirectly, from violating

‘Section 13(b)(5) of the .Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5)] and Rules 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [.17
C.F.R. §§ 240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-2], promuigated thereunder, and from aiding and abetting
violations of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15US.C. 88
78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rulgs 12b-20, 13;1-1, and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§
240.12b-20, 240.132;-1, and 240.13&1—13], promulgated thereunder; _

® defendant Dunning, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys and all
personsb inractive concert or participation with him who receive actual_hotice of the Final Judgment
by persbnal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly or indirectly, from violating
Section 13(b)(5)_0fthe Exchange Act [15 UTS.C. § 78m(b)(5)] apd Rule 13b2-1 [17 C.F.R. §
240.13b2-1], promulgated théreunder, and from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a),

13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and |
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78@@)(2)_(13)]@(1 Rules 12’b-20; 13a-1, and 132-13 [17 C.F.R; §§ 240.12b-zo, 240.13a-1, and
240.}.1 3a-13], prémul gated thereunder;
| | L . .

Ordering defendants Dell, Michael Dell, Rollins, Schneider and Dunning to

| disgorge ill-gétten gairis from the conduct alleged' heréin and to pay prejudgtﬁeht intérest thereon.
| | I11. |

Ordering defendants Dell, Michael Dell, Rollins, Schneider and Dunning to pay
civil money penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the S¢curities Ac; [15U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and
Section 21(d) of the Excha‘nge'Act [15US.C.§ 78u(d)].

1v.

Retaining jurisdiction of this action to implement and carry Qut:the terms of all

orders and decrees .that.may be entered or to enferta{in any suitable application or mbtion for

additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.
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V.
Granting such other and further relief as the Court may deem appropriate.

Dated: July 22,2010

Respectfully submitted,

Y

ohn D. Worland, Jr. (Bar #427%47)
‘Richard B. Skaff
Attorney for Plaintiff
Securities and Exchange Commission

* Washington, D.C. 20549
Tele: (202) 551-4438
Fax: (202) 772-9245
- e-mail: worlandj@sec.gov

Of Counsel:

Christopher Conte
Timothy England
Rami Sibay
James Blenko
Shelby Hunt
Jonathan Jacobs
Ian Rupell
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